
Agenda - Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 
Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 2 - Senedd
Meeting date: Monday, 26 September 
2016
Meeting time: 14.30

For further information contact:
Gareth Williams
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565 
SeneddCLA@assembly.wales

1 Introduction, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest
 

2 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 
21.2 or 21.3

 
Affirmative Resolution Instruments

SL(5)015 - The Government of Wales Act 1998 (Local Democracy and Boundary 
Commission for Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016 

(Pages 1 - 8)
CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 1 - Report
CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 2 - Order
CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 3 – Explanatory Memorandum

3 Instruments that raise reporting issues under Standing Order 
21.7(i) and 21.7(v)

 
Negative Resolution Instruments

SL(5)014 - Charging Guidance to Ofwat (the economic regulator of the water 
sector) 

(Pages 9 - 36)
CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 4 - Report

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 5 - Guidance
CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 6 – Explanatory Memorandum

4 Paper(s) to note
 

Call for evidence from the House of Lords Constitution Committee: The Legislative 
Process 

(Pages 37 - 40)
CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 7 - Call for evidence from the House of Lords Constitution 
Committee on their inquiry into ‘The Legislative Process’

5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the meeting for the following business:

 
(vi) the committee is deliberating on the content, conclusions or 
recommendations of a report it proposes to publish; or is preparing itself to take 
evidence from any person.

6 Wales Bill: Draft report
(Pages 41 - 95) 

CLA(5)-06-16 – Paper 8 – Draft report
CLA(5)-06-16 – Paper 9 – Amendments

Date of the next meeting 
Monday 3 October 2016



Statutory Instruments with Clear Reports
26 September 2016

SL(5)015 – The Government of Wales Act 1998 (Local Democracy and 
Boundary Commission for Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016

Procedure:  Affirmative

This Order amends paragraph 4 of Schedule 17 to the Government of Wales Act 1998, 
by altering the description of one of the bodies listed in that Schedule. The reference 
to the Local Government Boundary Commission for Wales is amended to refer instead 
to the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales. This follows the 
renaming of that body under section 2 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) 
Act 2013.

Parent Act: Government of Wales Act 1998

Date Made: Not stated
Date Laid: 13 September 2016         
Coming into force date: 7 October 2016

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2.1



Draft Order laid before the National Assembly for 
Wales under section 144(8ZA) of the Government of 
Wales Act 1998, for approval by resolution of the 
National Assembly for Wales.

D R A F T  W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S

2016 No. (W. )

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, 
WALES

The Government of Wales Act 
1998 (Local Democracy and 

Boundary Commission for Wales) 
(Amendment) Order 2016

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Order)

This Order amends paragraph 4 of Schedule 17 to 
the Government of Wales Act 1998, by altering the 
description of one of the bodies listed in that Schedule. 
The reference to the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for Wales is amended so as to refer 
instead to the Local Democracy and Boundary 
Commission for Wales. This follows the renaming of 
that body corporate under section 2 of the Local 
Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013. 

Pack Page 2



2

Draft Order laid before the National Assembly for 
Wales under section 144(8ZA) of the Government of 
Wales Act 1998, for approval by resolution of the 
National Assembly for Wales.

D R A F T  W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S

                        2016 No. (W. )

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, 
WALES

The Government of Wales Act 
1998 (Local Democracy and 

Boundary Commission for Wales) 
(Amendment) Order 2016

Made ***

Coming into force 7 October 2016

The Welsh Ministers make the following Order in 
exercise of the power conferred upon them by section 
144(8)(c)(1) of the Government of Wales Act 1998(2).

A draft of this Order was laid before, and approved by 
a resolution of the National Assembly for Wales in 
accordance with section 144(8ZA)(3) of that Act.

Title and commencement

1.—(1) The title of this Order is the Government of 
Wales Act 1998 (Local Democracy and Boundary 
Commission for Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016.

(2) This Order comes into force on 7 October 2016.

(1) The power to make an order under section 144(8)(c) of the 
Government of Wales Act 1998 was originally vested in the 
Secretary of State, but section 144(8) was amended by 
paragraph 45(7)(a) of Schedule 10 to the Government of 
Wales Act 2006 so as to substitute the Welsh Ministers for 
the Secretary of State.

(2) 1998. c. 38.
(3) Subsection (8ZA) of section 144 of the Government of 

Wales Act 1998 was added by paragraph 45(8) of Schedule 
10 to the Government of Wales Act 2006 (c. 32).

Pack Page 3



3

Amendment of the Government of Wales Act 1998

2. In paragraph 4 of Schedule 17 to the Government 
of Wales Act 1998, for “Local Government Boundary 
Commission for Wales” substitute “Local Democracy 
and Boundary Commission for Wales”.

Name
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government, 
one of the Welsh Ministers
Date

Pack Page 4



1

EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM TO THE GOVERNMENT OF WALES 
ACT 1998 (LOCAL DEMOCRACY AND BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR 
WALES) (AMENDMENT) ORDER 2016

This Explanatory Memorandum has been prepared by the Education and 
Public Services Group and is laid before the National Assembly for Wales in 
conjunction with the above subordinate legislation and in accordance with 
Standing Order 27.1. 

Minister’s Declaration

In my view, this Explanatory Memorandum gives a fair and reasonable view of 
the expected impact of the Government of Wales Act 1998 (Local Democracy 
and Boundary Commission for Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016.          

Mark Drakeford 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government

13 September 2016

Pack Page 5



2

1. Description
1.1 The Government of Wales Act 1998 (Local Democracy and Boundary 

Commission for Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016 (“the Order”) amends 
paragraph 4 of Schedule 17 to the Government of Wales Act 1998, by 
altering the description of one of the bodies listed in the Schedule. 

1.2 Schedule 17 to the Government of Wales Act 1998 (“the 1998 Act”) 
provides a list of Welsh public bodies which are subject to some provisions 
in the 1998 Act regarding accounts and audit. Paragraph 4 currently 
provides that the ‘Local Government Boundary Commission for Wales’ is 
one of those Welsh Public Bodies.

1.3 The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 (“the 2013 Act”) 
reformed the framework of rules within which the then called Local 
Government Boundary Commission for Wales operated.  The 2013 Act 
enhanced its responsibilities and changed its name to ‘The Local 
Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales’. 

1.4 This Order will amend paragraph 4 of Schedule 17 to the Government of 
Wales Act 1998, by replacing the reference to the ‘Local Government 
Boundary Commission for Wales’ with a reference to the ‘Local Democracy 
and Boundary Commission for Wales’ to reflect the changes introduced by the 
2013 Act. 

2. Matters of special interest to the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 
Committee

2.1 None 

3. Legislative background
3.1 Under section 144(8)(c) of the Government of Wales Act 1998, the Welsh 
Ministers may make an Order to amend any of the Parts of Schedule 17 by 
altering the description of any body.  This power was originally vested in the 
Secretary of State, but section 144(8) was amended by paragraph 45(7)(a) of 
Schedule 10 to the Government of Wales Act 2006 so as to substitute the 
Welsh Ministers for the Secretary of State

 

3.2 In accordance with section 144(8ZA), this Order is subject to the approval 
of the National Assembly for Wales (the affirmative procedure).

Pack Page 6



3

4. Purpose and intended effect of the legislation

Background

4.1 The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 reformed the 
framework of rules within which the then called Local Government Boundary 
Commission for Wales operated. The Act enhanced its responsibilities and 
changed its name. Under section 2 of the Act, the new name is the Local 
Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales

The issue

4.2 This Order is needed as a consequence of that Act 

Purpose

4.3 This Order will amend paragraph 4 of Schedule 17 to the Local 
Government of Wales Act 1989 so the name “Local Government 
Boundary Commission for Wales” is substituted by “Local Democracy and 
Boundary Commission for Wales” 

Effect

4.4 The effect of the Order is that the Welsh Ministers will be able to make 
orders regarding the accounts, auditing and reporting of the ‘Local 
Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales’, in accordance with 
section 144 of the 1998 Act

Risk if legislation changes are not made

4.5 If the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales is not 
correctly specified in Schedule 17, the following risks could be realised:

 A key component of good governance may not be provided - the Welsh 
Ministers may not be able to direct the financial management of 
Commission  / not be able to exercise their powers under section 144 
of the 1998 Act and make provisions regarding the accounts, auditing 
and reporting of the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for 
Wales

 There might be inconsistency in terms of the financial management 
duties placed on organisations in the same sectors.

Pack Page 7



4

5. Consultation 

5.1 As this Order is a technical consequence of the Local Government 
(Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 changing the name of a Welsh 
Government Sponsored Body, the Welsh Ministers have not consulted on 
this Order. 

6. Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) 

6.1 No Regulatory Impact Assessment has been completed for this Order is 
not expected to impose any cost on business, local government or the 
voluntary sector.  This is consistent with the Welsh Ministers’ Regulatory 
Impact Assessment Code for Subordinate Legislation. The costs relating 
to the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission’s change of name 
were considered as part of the Regulatory Impact Assessment for the 
Local Democracy (Wales) Act 2013.

Pack Page 8



SL(5)014 - Charging Guidance to Ofwat (the economic 
regulator of the water sector) 2016

Background and Purpose
This guidance is made by the Welsh Ministers and is issued to Ofwat the independent 
economic regulator of the water sector. Ofwat must have regard to the guidance when 
making Charging Rules that apply in areas that are wholly or mainly in Wales.

Procedure
The procedure set out in the enabling act (the Water Industry Act 1991) provides that: 

- the Welsh Ministers must not issue the guidance until after the period of 40 days 
beginning with the day on which the draft is laid before the Assembly, and

- if before the end of that period the Assembly resolves that the guidance should 
not be issued, the Welsh Ministers may not issue it.

Scrutiny under Standing Order 21.7
The Charging Guidance is not a statutory instrument so the Committee is not reporting 
under Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3.

The Committee has considered and reported on the Charging Guidance under:

- Standing Order 21.7(i): as subordinate legislation laid before the Assembly;

- Standing Order 21.7(v): as a legislative matter of a general nature within or 
relating to the competence of the Assembly or the Welsh Minister.

While it is always open to debate whether guidance can amount to legislation, there are 
many aspects of this guidance that are of interest to the Committee:

- this statutory guidance is made by the Welsh Ministers under powers given to 
them by primary legislation (the Water Industry Act 1991);

- the Water Industry Act 1991 provides that draft guidance must be laid before the 
Assembly;

- the guidance cannot be issued by the Welsh Ministers until 40 days have passed 
since it was laid before the Assembly;

Pack Page 9

Agenda Item 3.1



- the Assembly may resolve that the guidance should not be issued (in which case, 
the Welsh Ministers must not issue the guidance);

- Ofwat must have regard to the guidance when Ofwat issues Charging Rules for 
water and sewerage undertakers operating wholly or mainly in Wales;

- those Charging Rules are expected to impact on the water bills of consumers.

Given the above, this statutory guidance seems to be sufficiently legislative in 
character for the Committee to consider under Standing Order 21.7.

Reporting points
The Committee has considered the principles outlined in the guidance to Ofwat, and 
there are no reporting points with regard to those principles.

The Committee reports that the Charging Guidance is in English only.

Government Response 
The Charging Guidance is intended for Ofwat officials only. Ofwat are the economic 
regulators for the water Industry for England and Wales and are solely located in 
England, there are no Welsh speakers within Ofwat. The guidance is technical in 
nature. Welsh Government officials carried out a translation scoring exercise prior to 
issuing this guidance which recommended that the items be produced in English only.

Legal Advisers
Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee
26 September 2016

Pack Page 10



Charging guidance  
to Ofwat (the economic 
regulator of the  
water sector)

20
16

    © Crown copyright 2016     WG29694    Digital ISBN: 978 1 4734 7513 Pack Page 11



0 

 

Contents  
 
1. Introduction................................................................................................ 1 
2. The Role of Ofwat ..................................................................................... 2 

3. The Welsh Government’s policy priorities for Charging Guidance ............ 4 
4. Guidance on Charging schemes for household customers ....................... 8 

5. Guidance on Charging schemes for non-household Customers ............. 14 
6. Conclusion............................................................................................... 17 

7. Annex 1 ................................................................................................... 18 
8. Annex 2 ................................................................................................... 20 
 
 

 

Pack Page 12



1 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. This guidance is issued to Ofwat the independent economic regulator 
of the water sector under section 144ZE of the Water Industry Act 1991 as 
inserted by section 38 of the Water Act 2014: General guidance on charges. 
Ofwat must have regard to any guidance issued under this section by Welsh 
Ministers when making Charges Rules that apply in areas that are wholly or 
mainly in Wales.. 

1.2. This is the first Charging Guidance that the Welsh Government has 
produced following the introduction of new powers for Welsh Ministers in the 
Water Act 2014, reflecting the Welsh Government’s policy. This replaces 
existing Charging Guidance to Ofwat for relevant undertakers, which the UK 
Government produced in 19991. 

1.3. Section 144ZE of the Water Industry Act 1991 provides powers for the 
Welsh Ministers to give guidance to Ofwat, relating to the rules as to the 
charges that may be imposed by relevant undertakers in areas wholly or 
mainly in Wales.  This Guidance will set out principles which specifically apply 
to: 

 

 Rules under section 66E in relation to charges which water 
undertakers impose on water supply licensees and; 

 Rules under Section 143B in relation to the charges schemes 
published by water and sewerage undertakers. 

1.4. More detailed information on each of the particular provisions on 
charging regimes is provided in Annex 1. 

1.5. The purpose of this Guidance is to set a framework along side any 
other Guidance the Welsh Ministers may provide which Ofwat must have 
regard to when it sets charging rules. 

1.6. Ofwat’s charging rules will be subject to public consultation. Welsh 
Ministers have a power to direct Ofwat not to issue the rules, if they consider 
that the rules are not consistent with the Welsh Government’s policy. Where 
the Welsh Government issues revised guidance, the Act requires that Ofwat 
should review and, if necessary revise, the relevant charging rules. 

1.7. The Welsh Ministers have, where practicable, given due consideration 
to costs and benefits which may be expected to result from the Guidance. 

1.8. Defra have issued separate Guidance which is applicable to Ofwat’s 
rules relating to undertakers wholly or mainly in England. 

 

                                                
1 In the guidance, reference to Relevant Undertakers refers to water undertakers and water 
and sewerage undertakers who operate wholly or mainly in Wales. 
 

Pack Page 13



2 

 

2. The Role of Ofwat 
 

2.1. The Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat) is the independent 
economic regulator for the water and sewerage sector in England and Wales.  
The Water Act 2014 introduced new powers for Ofwat with regards to issuing 
charging rules around what relevant undertakers can charge for water supply 
and sewerage services.   

2.2. Ofwat’s general duties as a regulator are laid down in Section 2 of the 
Water Industry Act 1991 (WIA91)2 Ofwat must: 

 

 Further the consumer objective. 

 Secure that the functions of water and sewerage undertakers are 
properly carried out across Wales and England. 

 Secure that companies holding appointments under Chapter 1 of 
Part 2 of the Water Industry Act 1991 as relevant undertakers are 
able (in particular, by securing reasonable returns on their capital) 
to finance the proper carrying out of those functions. 

 Secure that the activities authorised by the licence of a licensed 
water supplier and any statutory functions imposed on it in 
consequence of the licence are properly carried out.  

 Further the resilience objective. 

2.3. Subject to these duties, Ofwat must also: 

 

 Promote economy and efficiency by relevant undertakers in their 
work. 

 Secure that no undue preference or discrimination is shown by 
such companies in fixing charges. 

 Secure that consumers’ interests are protected in relation to any 
unregulated activities of companies. 

 Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. 

2.4. In addition, Ofwat must have regard to the principles of best regulatory 
practice. 

2.5. These duties are supplemented by general duties in relation to the 
environment and recreation (see, for example, sections 3 and 4 of the Water 
Industry Act 1991). Ofwat also has a range of regulatory functions under the 
Competition Act 1998 and the Enterprise Act 2002. 

2.6. The Welsh Government’s role is to determine the policy framework that 
may affect the factors that determine price limits and to bring to Ofwat’s 
attention the Welsh Ministers’ priorities for relevant undertakers wholly or 
mainly in Wales. This includes improvements to natural resources and 

                                                
2 (http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents), as amended by the Water Act 2003 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/37/contents).     

Pack Page 14



3 

 

drinking water services in Wales.  In doing so we must seek to ensure that we 
meet our domestic and European legislative obligations. 

 

Pack Page 15



4 

 

3. The Welsh Government’s policy priorities for 
Charging Guidance 
 

3.1. The Welsh Government’s vision for water is to ensure that Wales 
continues to have a thriving water environment which is sustainably managed 
to support healthy communities, flourishing businesses and biodiversity. We 
want the people of Wales to receive first class, value for money water 
services with water used efficiently, safely and respectfully by all.  

3.2. Ofwat has an important role in supporting the delivery of our vision 
when undertaking their independent economic regulatory duties. 

3.3. We expect Ofwat to take account of our Charging Guidance within the 
context of our overarching policy commitments for the water sector in Wales 
and the wider goals and principles of the Welsh Government.  These include: 
 

 The Welsh Government Water Strategy for Wales3 issued in May 
2015  

 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015)4 

 The Environment (Wales) Act 20165 

 The Social and Environmental Guidance to Ofwat6 issued under 
section 2A of the Water Industry Act 1991 (as amended by section 
40 of the Water Act 2003) issued in June 2014 

 The forthcoming Welsh Government Strategic Policy Statement 
issued under the Water Act 2014 

3.4. The Welsh Government is issuing Charging Guidance under Section 
144ZE of the Water Industry Act 1991. We have drafted this Guidance within 
the context of two key themes of the Water Strategy for Wales: 

 

 Delivering excellent services to customers  

 Water for nature, people and business 

3.5. We expect Ofwat to balance the long-term needs of a sustainable and 
resilient environment with the need to ensure that there are sufficient, reliable 
water resources. Ofwat should provide incentives that give the right balance 
between rewards and penalties in the context of Welsh Government priorities 
and circumstances in Wales.  Where there are conflicting priorities we would 
like to see Ofwat explain within their rules how they have balanced these 
competing objectives. 

 

                                                
3
 http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/epq/waterflooding/publications/water-

strategy/?lang=en 
4 See Annex 2 
5
 http://gov.wales/legislation/programme/assemblybills/environment-wales-act-2016/?lang=en 

6
 http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/epq/waterflooding/publications/social-

environmental-guidance-water/?lang=en 

Pack Page 16



5 

 

Delivering Excellent Services to Customers  

3.6. The Water Strategy for Wales highlights the importance of ensuring a 
strong customer focus at the heart of the delivery of water and sewerage 
services in Wales. This requires both a sound understanding of existing and 
future customer needs, and a strong voice for consumer representation.  The 
Welsh Government expects Ofwat, within the scope of their duties, to 
encourage water companies to know their customers and set out in their 
charging schemes, appropriately targeted tariffs and payment plans designed 
to help those customers that may struggle to afford their bills and reduce the 
costs of bad debt to all customers.  This should include clear strategies to 
minimise the number of customers falling into arrears and to agree payment 
arrangements to address arrears with as many customers as possible. 

3.7. The  Welsh Government expects the framework of water charging to 
be one in which there is a fair allocation of costs between customers, 
recognising affordability for customers and the costs of providing the service.  
Ofwat should set clear expectations that in developing their charging 
schemes, the companies must undertake proportionate assessment of the 
impacts of any significant incidence (burden) effects on customers as a whole, 
or on groups of customers, and act on the results.  

3.8. Ofwat should take account of the affordability issues specific to Wales 
and ensure that these are reflected in its approach to regulating charges for 
Welsh customers.  Ofwat should therefore give due consideration to 
innovative charges from relevant undertakers, including social tariffs, in line 
with the Welsh Government Social Tariff Guidance7, to help address 
affordability issues.  The Welsh Government expects Ofwat to be supportive 
of relevant undertakers’ proposals for charges which are both fair and protect 
vulnerable and low income groups. 

3.9. Ofwat should take a proportionate regulatory approach that recognises 
the costs and burdens that regulation can place on the relevant undertakers 
and customers.  In order to facilitate stable charges, Ofwat should seek to be 
consistent in its general approach to charging with any changes well signalled 
and subject to appropriate consultation with both the relevant undertakers and 
the customers affected. 

3.10. We expect Ofwat and the water undertakers to comply with the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011.   Ofwat and water undertakers are 
expected to comply in due course with the relevant Welsh Language 
Standards imposed upon them by the Welsh Language Commissioner.   The 
Measure establishes that, in Wales, the Welsh language should not be treated 
less favourably than the English language.  The Welsh Government expects 
undertakers to publish their charges schemes bilingually. 

Water for Nature, People and Business 

3.11. The Welsh Government is keen to take a long-term, 25 years plus 

                                                
7
 http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/epq/waterflooding/publications/social-tariff-

guidance/?lang=en 

Pack Page 17



6 

 

approach to natural resource which will support our focus on sustainable 
development.  By enhancing and managing our natural environment more 
holistically, we will not only secure our environmental wellbeing but also 
maximise the economic and social benefits for the long term. 

3.12. The efficient use of water resources is fundamental to securing the 
long term resilience of water supplies and the environment.  The Water Act 
2014 introduced a primary duty which requires Ofwat to secure the long-term 
resilience of water and sewerage systems and provision of services to 
customers; taking into account environmental pressures, population growth 
and changes in consumer behaviour. We expect Ofwat to have regard to their 
duties and to ensure that relevant undertakers have a range of measures in 
place to manage water resources in sustainable ways. This should include 
increasing efficiency in the use of water and reducing demand for water in 
order to reduce pressure on water resources. 

3.13. Ofwat must also have regard to their duty to sustainable development.  
Ofwat has a duty under the Water Industry Act 1991 (as amended) to exercise 
and perform its powers and duties in a manner it considers is best calculated 
to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. To ensure that 
the interests of the consumers are at the heart of decisions about the water 
sector, Ofwat should take account of the Welsh Government definition of 
sustainable development as stated in the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. 

3.14. The Welsh Government expects Ofwat to ensure that a proportionate 
assessment of the impacts on both consumers and investors of any proposed 
changes to its regulatory framework for the water and sewerage sector has 
been carried out.     Any proposed changes should be driven and set out in 
the context of Welsh Government policy and Welsh Legislation, and any 
supporting evidence should be based on data solely from undertakers that are 
wholly or mainly in Wales or within the geographical boundary of Wales.  
Where proposed changes apply to both England and Wales, separate 
consultation and explanatory notes should be provided for England and 
Wales, each setting out the proposals within the context of the different 
Government policies and legislative framework.      

3.15. Charging can play a role in securing economically and environmentally 
efficient use of resources, encouraging innovation and ensuring that 
environmental goods are costed appropriately.  There are substantial cross 
subsidies inherent in the water sector, due to the reliance of all customers on 
sufficient resources and a resilient network. The Welsh Government therefore, 
sees no case for any moves towards the de-averaging of network costs.  In 
many cases unwinding these cross subsidies will be of little practical benefit 
and may lead to bill instability, creating winners and losers without delivering 
any measureable policy benefit.  However, in some cases it may be beneficial 
to use targeted price signals to improve recognition of environmental costs.  
For example, if a very large water user is making the decision about where to 
locate new premises, it would make sense for them to consider benefits 
associated with areas where water is plentiful.  Currently such incentives are 
minimal.  However, such tools must be used appropriately to avoid the 

Pack Page 18



7 

 

creation of perverse incentives and to ensure that any change is in the overall 
interest of customers and the environment.   

3.16. The Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) approach is central 
to future surface water management, and can be used to help comply with 
European, UK and Welsh environmental and water quality legislation. SuDS 
schemes can reduce the volume and flow of excess surface water entering 
the sewerage infrastructure.  In line with their legal and regulatory duties, 
sewerage undertakers may adopt SuDS features and infrastructure. We 
expect, in general, for relevant undertakers to recover the associated costs 
through their charges schemes and customer agreements. 

 
 
 
 

Pack Page 19



8 

 

Guidance on Charging Schemes 
 

4. Guidance on Charging schemes for household 
customers 

 
Delivering excellent services to customers 

4.1. The Welsh Ministers expect Ofwat to take account of the respective 
policy positions of the Welsh Government and UK Government. Any 
divergence in policy between the UK and Welsh Governments must be fully 
reflected in regulatory policy and practice, and Welsh consumers must not be 
detrimentally affected.   

4.2. Under section 2 of the Water Industry Act 1991, Ofwat has a duty to 
protect the interests of consumers, including (where appropriate) by 
promoting effective competition in the provision of water and sewerage 
services.  As set out in paragraphs 3.7 and 3.8 Ofwat must have regard to the 
interests of several groups, including disabled or chronically sick customers; 
those of pensionable age; those on low incomes; and rural customers.  These 
responsibilities apply equally to both existing and future customers. 

 
Fair and Affordable Water services 

4.3. The Tackling Poverty Action Plan8 sets out the Welsh Government’s 
key objectives to prevent poverty in the long term, to help people out of 
poverty and mitigate the impact of poverty.  The action plan recognises that 
there is a need to become more joined up with our partners to achieve better 
outcomes for everyone in Wales.  We are committed to improving the lives of 
those living in poverty and keeping water bills at an affordable level will help 
reduce debt and protect vulnerable groups. 

4.4. The Welsh Government’s ambition is a Wales where everyone 
achieves their full potential and everyone can live a life free from poverty and 
inequality.  We are particularly concerned about the impact of water charges 
and the impact of rises in water bill on those customers least able to pay.  
This is especially important when considered alongside other utility and 
household bill increases. 

4.5. Ofwat should take into account affordability issues specific to Wales 
and ensure that these are reflected in Ofwat’s approach to regulating charges.  
Ofwat should give due consideration to innovative charges from undertakers 
including social tariffs, in line with Welsh Government Social Tariff Guidance, 
to help address affordability issues.  Where appropriate, Ofwat should seek to 
involve officials from the Welsh Government and the Consumer Council for 
Water in this work. 

 

                                                
8 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-
poverty-action-plan/?lang=en  

Pack Page 20

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-poverty-action-plan/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-poverty-action-plan/?lang=en


9 

 

Social Tariffs 

4.6. Social tariffs will enable customers who are less able to pay their bills 
to access reduced charges, as well as additional support around how to 
reduce costs through water efficiency measures or consideration of moving to 
metered charges, for example. 

4.7. The Welsh Government published its Social Tariff Guidance to Ofwat 
and the water companies on 10 June 2014.  This Guidance sets the 
framework with which relevant undertakers can bring forward a social tariff if it 
chooses to do so and also set the framework which Ofwat should consider 
when exercising its power to regulate charging schemes. 

4.8. The Welsh Ministers will expect Ofwat to consider their Social Tariff 
Guidance when regulating any future charges proposed by relevant 
undertakers in Wales. 

4.9. The Welsh Ministers are keen to encourage the development of 
innovative charging structures additional to the social tariffs to ensure that 
households with affordability issues are protected. 

 
Payment Schemes 

4.10. Debt can often be linked to a householders’ ability to pay.   Relevant 
undertakers should provide support to ensure that vulnerable householders 
and those living in poverty are able to pay for their water bill whilst at the 
same time, actively pursuing those householders who choose not to pay their 
bills.  By offering support, relevant undertakers will be able to reduce the 
current level of bad debt.  The Welsh Ministers would expect Ofwat to 
encourage relevant undertakers to meet the needs of their customers and 
offer appropriately targeted tariffs and payment plans to help minimise the 
number of households falling into debt and to maximise the numbers 
addressing their debts. 

4.11. The level of bad debt in England and Wales is believed to add 
approximately £21 per year to each bill.  In January 2015, the Welsh 
Government introduced the Water Industry (Undertakers Wholly or Mainly in 
Wales) (Information about Non-owner Occupiers) Regulations 2014 to make it 
easier for relevant undertakers to find out information on non-owner occupiers 
of households and enable them to seek payment more easily.  Welsh 
Ministers expect Ofwat to take account of these regulations in Wales by being 
supportive of relevant undertaker’s proposed schemes for charges which are 
both fair and protect vulnerable and low income groups.   

4.12. Those on low incomes may find the size and infrequency of annual or 
bi-annual bills particularly difficult to manage. Welsh Ministers expect flexible 
payment options to be offered to customers to assist with these problems. In 
particular, customers should be able to make frequent payments (such as 
weekly or fortnightly). Ofwat should encourage relevant undertakers to 
provide a wide range of options on where and when payments can be made. 
This should include allowing customers to pay irregular amounts on a frequent 

Pack Page 21



10 

 

basis.  Ofwat should promote such schemes that do not incur an additional 
charge for customers. Charges schemes should make clear that these options 
are available and they should be drawn to the attention of customers most in 
need of assistance.  

4.13. It is important to recognise that not all households will want to (or will 
be able to) pay their bills using Direct Debit.  It is critical that low income 
households are not disadvantaged and do not end up paying more for their 
water bills, if they are unable to pay by Direct Debit than those who are able to 
pay by Direct Debit.  Families living in poverty are often at risk of experiencing 
the “poverty premium” where low income households pay disproportionately 
more for goods and services.  Relevant undertakers should recognise these 
limitations of Direct Debit payment and Ofwat should encourage proposals to 
address this.  In so doing, they will make an important contribution to one of 
the objectives of the Welsh Government’s 2015 Child Poverty Strategy9, 
which is aimed at supporting families living in poverty to increase household 
income through debt and financial advice and action to address the “poverty 
premium”. 
 

Stable and predictable charges   

4.14.   Stability and predictability in bills can be particularly important to 
customers who have to plan carefully for future costs. Customers have a 
legitimate expectation that, where their use of water services does not change 
markedly from one year to the next, they should not face changes in costs 
significantly out of line with changes to the overall undertaker price limit. 
Charges schemes should ensure that, under existing charges, changes to 
individual bills should not diverge significantly from the average without 
changes in demand.  Phasing in of any sudden large changes in charges, 
through the use of devices such as glide paths, can be useful in managing 
effects on customer bills and should be encouraged.  Relevant undertakers 
and retailers are encouraged to consult customers and introduce changes to 
charges in a sensitive way.  

 
Transparent and customer focused charging 

4.15. Welsh Ministers expect charges schemes and customer bills to be both 
transparent and fair. 

4.16. For most household customers, their overall bill comprises a charge for 
the water service and charges for three elements of the sewerage service - 
foul water drainage, surface water drainage and highway drainage. Charges 
schemes that separate out sewerage charges in a way that customers find 
transparent and relevant, should be encouraged where it can promote positive 
behaviour change.  

4.17. Welsh Ministers welcome and support the provision of rebates for 
customers whose surface water does not flow either into public sewers or 

                                                
9 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-
poverty/?lang=en  

Pack Page 22

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-poverty/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-poverty/?lang=en


11 

 

SuDS features and infrastructure that have been adopted by the sewerage 
undertaker. Information on the numbers of properties which do not receive a 
surface water drainage service is not comprehensive. Relevant undertakers 
should seek to obtain better information on this matter, and should consider 
the scope for offering automatic rebates in such circumstances while bearing 
in mind the need to avoid unacceptable increases in other customers’ bills, if 
such an approach is to be adopted. 

4.18. Welsh Ministers welcome the approach Ofwat has adopted in the 2014 
Price Review where undertakers were given greater ownership of their 
business plans with extensive input from the Customer Challenge Groups, in 
order to deliver long term outcomes.  We expect Ofwat to continue to 
encourage relevant undertakers to take note of customer expectations where 
it is appropriate while continuing to ensure that Ministerial requirements and 
compliance with statutory duties continue to be taken into account.   

 
Natural Resource Management Incentives 

4.19. We expect Ofwat to encourage relevant undertakers to facilitate a 
reduction in domestic and business water use. The promotion of water 
efficiency and water conservation are encouraged in mitigating the 
environmental impact of society’s demand for water and in protecting the 
aquatic environment for future generations. A wide range of measures should 
be considered to help reduce demand for water - for example, relevant 
undertakers are already required to reduce leakage from their pipes and the 
majority of the industry provides free leakage detection and repair services for 
household consumers.  

4.20. Water meters have a role in providing an incentive to reduce water 
consumption and in some circumstances they can reduce bills.  

4.21. The design of measured charges can play an important role in 
improving water efficiency, reducing water consumption and abstractions, and 
enhancing the environment. There may also be an environmental and 
economic gain for customers generally if the effect of metering can defer the 
need for expensive investments in new resources.   

4.22. In this context, the Welsh Government recognises that innovative tariff 
structures can send positive price signals and improve economic and 
environmental efficiency.   For example, rising (fixed and amended) block 
tariffs, which charge more per volumetric unit of water for each subsequent 
block of water used, can mean a lower volumetric rate is charged for essential 
use and a higher volumetric rate is charged for discretionary use. This can 
provide an incentive to reduce discretionary water use whilst still giving 
access to water for basic needs at low cost. Seasonal tariffs and time-of-day 
tariffs can also tackle peak water uses where these affect the required 
capacity of the system. 

4.23. Introduction of such tools needs to be properly managed and 
evaluated, especially where costs would be incurred as part of 
implementation.  Well designed small scale tariff trials can provide important 

Pack Page 23



12 

 

evidence to guide decisions on tariff design, but should always include 
provisions for potentially vulnerable customers within the trials. 

4.24. Relevant undertakers should regularly develop and review tariffs to 
ensure that they are relevant to their customers’ needs and concerns, as well 
as providing encouragement for water conservation and efficiency. Welsh 
Ministers want to see further development of tariffs which provide stronger 
incentives to economise on the use of water for discretionary purposes, 
without discouraging essential use - for example, rising block tariffs. A 
balance will always need to be struck to ensure that tariffs remain as 
transparent, affordable and fair as possible, as evidence from the energy retail 
market has suggested that multiple tariff structures only benefits ‘well-
informed’ (and often better off) customers at the expense of less ‘well-
informed’, and often more vulnerable customers.   

4.25. Where customers are using significant quantities of water for 
discretionary purposes, it is right that the price mechanism should reflect extra 
costs which arise from the additional consumption and those customers 
should be made aware of the resources they are using.  

4.26. Regional average based charging has recognisable benefit to 
customers as a whole.  For the purpose of this Guidance area based charging 
should remain; the Welsh Government may choose to give more detailed 
advice on this position in future Guidance. 

4.27. Ofwat is expected to have regard to the Welsh Government’s priorities 
set out in the National Natural Resource Management Policy which, subject to 
being passed by the National Assembly for Wales, will be a statutory 
document under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. It should incentivise 
water undertakers to develop long-term, innovative solutions where 
appropriate, based on whole catchment approaches, and recognising the role 
and function of natural processes. 

4.28. Ofwat should have regard to the fact that there is support in principle 
from customers for relevant undertakers to carry out activities within their 
competence that provide wider environmental benefits, such as the promotion 
or protection of biodiversity, energy generation, landscape benefits, regulation 
of flood risks or the provision of environmental information and education to 
promote behaviour change around water use or appropriate use of the 
drainage system. 

 
Metering 

4.29. In setting charging rules, Ofwat should always seek to ensure that any 
transition to metering by relevant undertakers are handled with care, 
recognising that water bills may also rise for some customers who do not 
move to a meter.  It should make sure that, wherever appropriate, measures 
such as transitional tariffs are put in place by the relevant undertakers to 
support customers through this change and to protect them from sharp price 
rises. These should also be combined with social tariffs where appropriate.  
The Welsh Government’s view is that if any undertaker wishes to introduce a 

Pack Page 24



13 

 

more widespread metering programme across its operating area it must 
seriously consider including a company social tariff in its charges scheme10.   

4.30. Welsh Ministers consider that Ofwat should ensure that the timescales 
set out in charges schemes strike an appropriate balance between 
responding rapidly to the serving of measured charges notices and the cost-
effective operation of the meter installation programme. The speed of 
response will vary according to the level of demand for meters. But it is also in 
the wider interests of customers for companies to ensure that the programme 
of meter fitting is managed as efficiently and cost effectively as possible. 

4.31. Welsh Ministers expect that unmeasured households, who would 
benefit most from having a meter installed and moving to a measured 
charging system, should be made aware that doing so would benefit them. 
Once they have made the decision to move, they should be moved onto a 
meter as quickly as possible in order to benefit from bill savings.  

                                                
10 This is in addition to any transitional tariff or support that an undertaker brings forward as 
part of an area wide roll out of metering. 

Pack Page 25



14 

 

 

5. Guidance on Charging schemes for non-
household Customers 
 
Non-household customers 

5.1. Non-household customers have similar expectations to those of 
household customers in respect to fair, affordable, stable, predictable and 
transparent charges.   

5.2. The Welsh Ministers expect to see fair treatment for non-household 
customers whose areas are wholly or mainly in Wales.  The charges paid by 
many non-household users will be set under charges schemes, to which this 
Guidance relates.   

5.3. Non-household customers occupy diverse types of premises and use 
water and sewerage services in different ways.  In Wales, there are already 
companies who rely on water to support everything from paper and steel 
production through to food processing and brewing. Where this affects the 
pattern of water use, water undertakers should be prepared to recognise this 
and consider distinctive charges that reflect the burdens customers place on 
the water system. Non-household customers in Wales are metered. This 
should facilitate fair treatment of different users in these categories. 

5.4. Regional average based charging has recognisable benefit to 
customers as a whole.  For the purpose of this Guidance regional average 
based charging should remain and the Welsh Government may chose to give 
more detailed advice on this position in future guidance. 

 
Taking account of Wales specific policy 

5.5. The Welsh Ministers expect Ofwat to take account of the different 
respective policy positions of the Welsh Government and UK Government. 
Any divergence in policy between the UK and Welsh Governments must be 
fully reflected in Ofwat’s regulatory policy and practice, and Welsh consumers 
must not be detrimentally affected.  We expect different rules to be issued by 
Ofwat where there are policy divergences between the UK Government and 
Welsh Government. 

5.6. Business customers, whether commerce or industry, use water 
services in the course of their operations. Welsh Ministers would expect 
business customers as a whole to meet the full cost of their retail and 
wholesale services, and so not be subsidised by (or subsidising) domestic 
customers.  We expect Ofwat to ensure customers served wholly or mainly in 
Wales do not make contributions towards the costs of market reform under 
the Water Act 2014. 

5.7. Stability and predictability in bills can be particularly important for both 
business and other non-household customers who have to plan carefully for 
future costs. Non-household customers have a legitimate expectation that, 

Pack Page 26



15 

 

where their use of water services does not change markedly from one year to 
the next, they should not face changes in costs significantly out of line with 
changes to the overall undertaker price limit. Charges schemes should ensure 
that, under existing charges, changes to individual bills should not diverge 
significantly from the average without changes in demand. Phasing in of any 
sudden significant changes in charges should be considered.  Relevant 
undertakers and retailers should be encouraged to consult customers and 
introduce changes to charges in a sensitive way.  

5.8. The information provided on charges should be sufficient to allow non-
household customers to understand how their overall charge has been arrived 
at and to be able to consider options to improve efficiency of their water use 
and reduce the cost of their bill in the future.  Charges should be 
communicated in such a way that non-household customers can have a 
reasonable idea of what their bill will be ahead of receiving it. 

5.9. From April 2017 non-household customers served by an undertaker 
wholly or mainly in England will have the option to switch their supplier of 
retail services.  This will not apply for most non-household customers served 
by relevant undertakers wholly or mainly in Wales.   

5.10. Ofwat will be required to set the rules on charges within the context of 
Welsh Government policy relating to market reform.  We expect Ofwat to keep 
the impact of market reform under review and, where necessary take action to 
ensure that the retail charges received by non-household customers served 
wholly or mainly in Wales remain both fair and affordable. 

5.11. Ofwat will continue to regulate in order to maintain sufficiently low price 
volatility and to protect those non-household customers eligible for retail 
competition that choose not to switch, by establishing default tariffs. 

 
Bulk Charges 

5.12. In setting charging rules in respect of bulk supplies, Ofwat will need to 
consider the correct balance of incentives to ensure that the cost of bulk 
supplies reflects the environmental as well as the economic costs of the trade.  
These charges should be transparent and predictable where possible. The 
Welsh Government also expects Ofwat to ensure that these supplies are not 
subsidised by domestic customers. The Welsh Government may give more 
detailed advice on this position in future guidance. 

  
Access Pricing 

5.13.  For the purpose of this Guidance the Welsh Government expects 
Ofwat to work within the current legal framework in respect of the undertakers 
wholly or mainly in Wales. .  If Ofwat feel there is an appropriate need to 
diverge with this approach, this would need to be discussed and agreed with 
the Welsh Government.  The Welsh Government are in the process of 
reviewing this  and will give updated advice on this position in future guidance.   

 
 

Pack Page 27



16 

 

 
Section 144ZA Developer charges 

5.14. The Water Industry Act 1991 provides for relevant undertakers to 
charge for new connections to the network, and for associated work.  To date, 
the legislation has been interpreted differently by the relevant undertakers 
leading to confusion for developers which can lead to long and costly 
disputes. 

5.15. The Welsh Ministers will prepare further detailed guidance to Ofwat on 
developer charges, in accordance with Section 144ZD of the Water Industry 
Act, as inserted by the Water Act 2014. This will set out the Welsh 
Government’s expectations for Ofwat’s charging rules in relation to 
developers.  However, for the purpose of this Guidance we expect Ofwat to 
continue to facilitate a simple, fair and transparent charging structure for the 
relevant undertakers to abide by. Ofwat should set rules that enable water 
and sewerage undertakers to recover the costs reasonably incurred in the 
provision of infrastructure. 

 

Pack Page 28



17 

 

 

6. Conclusion 
 

This document sets out the Welsh Minister’s Guidance on the exercise of 
Ofwat’s power to set charges scheme rules for relevant undertakers in areas 
wholly or mainly in Wales.  

Pack Page 29



18 

 

7. Annex 1  
 
The Water Act 2014 – a new framework for charging 
 
The Water Act 2014 introduced a number of changes to legislation to support 
the Welsh Government’s overarching policy objectives for the water sector. 
This included a new framework governing the regulation of water and 
sewerage charges. This provides the UK and Welsh Governments with new 
powers and duties to produce charging guidance for Ofwat, setting out a 
policy framework for Ofwat’s approach to regulating charges. 
 
The legislation requires that Welsh Ministers must issue guidance about the 
principles to be applied by Ofwat in setting:  
 

 rules under section 66E in relation to the charges which water 
undertakers impose on water supply licensees;  

 rules under section 117I11 in relation to the charges which sewerage 
undertakers impose on sewerage licensees;  

 rules under section 143B in relation to the charges schemes published 
by water and sewerage undertakers;  

 
In addition to this, the Act provides that Welsh Ministers may issue guidance 
about the principles to be applied by Ofwat in determining the provisions of:  
 

 rules under section 40E in relation to charges imposed by a water 
undertaker under a bulk supply agreement with another undertaker and 
inset appointees;  

 rules under section 51CD in relation to charges imposed by a water 
undertaker under an agreement for adopting a water main or service 
pipe at a future date;  

 rules issued in accordance with regulations under section 66M imposed 
under a water supply agreement;  

 rules under section 105ZF in relation to charges imposed by sewerage 
undertakers under an agreement for adopting a sewer, drain or sewage 
disposal works at a future date;  

 rules under section 110F in relation to the charges that may be 
imposed by a sewerage undertaker on another undertaker or inset 
appointee under a main connection agreement;  

 rules under section 144ZA in relation to charges which may be levied 
by water undertakers and sewerage undertakers for connections to, 
and the provision of, water mains, public sewers and some associated 
infrastructure.  

 
Furthermore, the Welsh Ministers may also issue general guidance about the 
principles to be applied by Ofwat setting rules about charges that may be 

                                                
11 Not currently devolved to Wales 

Pack Page 30



19 

 

imposed by either water and sewerage undertakers or water supply or 
sewerage licensees in other documents (e.g. licence conditions, deemed 
contracts, non-statutory guidance, etc.).  
 
Ofwat’s charging rules will be subject to public consultation. The Welsh 
Ministers have a power in respect of relevant undertakers to direct Ofwat not 
to issue the rules, for example, where rules are not consistent with Welsh 
Government policy.  Where the Welsh Government issues revised guidance, 
the Act requires that Ofwat should review and, if necessary revise, the 
relevant charging rules. 
 
In addition to this overarching statement of charging policy and principles, the 
Welsh Ministers are required in some instances to issue guidance in relation 
to the content of the particular charging regimes, duties and powers to issue 
further, more detailed guidance on each of the particular charging regimes 
issues listed above. In many areas we may consider that the overarching 
statement of principles published here is sufficient, in others we may take the 
view that further detail in relation to content is required at a later date.  For 
example, Welsh Ministers must use the power in section 144ZD to publish 
guidance on the content of the rules about charges for connections that 
relevant undertakers may make to developers. 
 
The Act also provides that Welsh Ministers may issue guidance about the 
content of the rules under section 143B to be applied by Ofwat.  
 
The Act also provides that Welsh Ministers must issue guidance as to the 
content of the rules under section 144ZA. 
 

Pack Page 31



20 

 

8. Annex 2 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 sets out seven goals 
which provide a shared vision and framework for its activity.  The Act also 
requires the Welsh Government to demonstrate it has applied five key 
behaviours when making decisions, through the sustainable development 
principle.  We want Ofwat to work towards the seven goals and take account 
of the sustainable development principle in how it goes about its work.   
 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Seven Goals: 
 

1. A prosperous Wales – An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognised the limits of the global environment and 
therefore uses resources efficiently and proportionately (including 
action on climate change); and which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy which generates wealth and 
provides employment opportunities, allowing people to take advantage 
of the wealth generated through securing decent work. 

2. A resilient Wales – A nation which maintains and enhances a 
biodiverse natural environment with healthy functioning ecosystems 
that support social, economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example climate change). 

3. A healthier Wales – A society in which people’s physical and mental 
well being is maximised and in which choices and behaviours that 
benefit future health are understood. 

4. A more equal Wales – A society that enables people to fulfil their 
potential no matter what their background and circumstances (including 
their socio economic background and circumstances). 

5. A Wales of cohesive communities – Attractive, viable, safe and 
connected communities. 

6. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language – A society that 
promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and 
which encourages people to participate in the arts, sports and 
recreation. 

7. A globally responsible Wales – A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well being of 
Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may make a 
positive contribution to global well-being. 

 

5 Key behaviours: 
 

1. Long-term – balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard 
the ability to also meet long-term needs; 

2. Prevention – acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse  
3. Integration – considering how the objectives of the organisation may 

impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies; 

Pack Page 32



21 

 

4. Collaboration – acting in collaboration with any other person, or 
different parts of the public body itself, that could help the body meet its 
well-being objectives; 

5. Involvement – involving people with an interest in achieving the well-

being goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the 
area which the body serves. 
 

Pack Page 33



1

Explanatory Memorandum to The Welsh Government’s Charging 
Guidance to Ofwat (the economic regulator for the Water Industry).  

This Explanatory Memorandum has been prepared by the Economy, Skills and 

Natural Resources department and is laid before the National Assembly for 

Wales in conjunction with the above subordinate legislation and in accordance 

with Standing Order 27.1

Cabinet Secretary

In my view, this Explanatory Memorandum gives a fair and reasonable view of 
the expected impact of the Welsh Government’s Charging Guidance to Ofwat 
(the economic regulator for the water industry).  

Lesley Griffiths AM, Cabinet Secretary for Environment and Rural Affairs

12 September 2016

Pack Page 34



2

1. Description

The Water Act 2014 received Royal Assent on 14th May 2014. It introduces 
changes in legislation to enable the water and sewerage sectors to deliver 
increased resilience, improved customer service and to support economic growth. 

The Act also sets out a new framework for the regulation of charging in the water 
industry. This is necessary to ensure that it remains suitable for the industry once 
the reforms enabled by the Act have been implemented. Under this new framework 
Ofwat, the independent economic regulator of the water industry, will be able to 
issue new binding Charging Rules for the water industry. As such, the Act also 
requires Ministers to develop new Charging Guidance which Ofwat must have 
regards to in developing their Charging Rules. The purpose of the Charging 
Guidance is to ensure that Ofwat’s Charging Rules reflect the Welsh Government’s 
policy priorities for the water sector.

2. Matters of special interest to the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 
Committee

Before issuing guidance under section 144ZE of the Water Industry Act 1991, the 
Welsh Ministers must lay a draft of the proposed guidance before the Assembly in 
accordance with section 144ZF of that Act. 

Section 144ZF provides that the Welsh Ministers may not issue the guidance until 
after the period of 40 days beginning with the day on which the draft is laid before 
the Assembly. If before the end of that period the Assembly resolves that the 
guidance should not be issued, the Welsh Ministers may not issue it. The 40 day 
period shall not run through the period of recess or the Assembly’s dissolution.

3. Legislative background

Section 38 of the Water Act 2014 (Section 38) was commenced on 6 April 2015 
and, inserts new section 144ZE into the Water Industry Act 1991.  This imposes 
new duties on Welsh Ministers to produce Charging Guidance for Ofwat which they 
must take into account when producing their charging rules for water and 
sewerage undertakers operating wholly or mainly in Wales.

Section 144ZE provides a duty for the Welsh Ministers to issue and revise high 
level guidance in relation to Ofwat’s charging rules. The guidance relates to the 
principles to be applied by Ofwat in determining the provisions of rules about 
charges on relevant undertakers’ customers (essentially the rules around what 
price water and sewerage companies can charge customers in their bills). The 
guidance sets the framework within which Ofwat must set their charging rules that 
are binding on the undertakers operating wholly or mainly in Wales.

This Guidance replaces existing charging guidance issued under section 143(6)-
(9) of the 1991 Act (as amended bysection 4 of the Water Industry Act 1999), 

Pack Page 35



3

which set the scope for the current charges schemes and is reflected in the water 
and sewerage charges paid by business and domestic users. Following 
amendments made by the Water Act 2014, the guidance provisions no longer exist 
in section 143 of the 1991 Act.

4. Purpose & intended effect of the legislation

The instrument applies to Wales.

The objective of the guidance is to provide Ofwat (the economic regulator for the 
water industry) with a strategic steer which they must take into account when 
producing charging rules for water and sewerage undertakers operating wholly or 
mainly in Wales.

5. Consultation 

Before issuing guidance the Ministers were required to consult: 

 The Secretary of State
 The Consumer Council for Water
 Any relevant undertakers likely to be affected by the proposed guidance
 Any water supply licensees or sewerage licensees likely to be affected 

by the proposed guidance

In developing the draft guidance the Welsh Government actively engaged with 
relevant stakeholders before publishing a consultation for the draft guidance

between 24 August and 11 October 2015.  A summary of responses is available on 
the Welsh Government’s website 
http://gov.wales/consultations/environmentandcountryside/150824-151011-
charging-guidance-to-ofwat/?status=closed&lang=en. 

6. Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) 

A Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) has not been prepared as the 
amendments have no impact on the costs of businesses

Pack Page 36

http://gov.wales/consultations/environmentandcountryside/150824-151011-charging-guidance-to-ofwat/?status=closed&lang=en
http://gov.wales/consultations/environmentandcountryside/150824-151011-charging-guidance-to-ofwat/?status=closed&lang=en


 

1 

 

 

Constitution Committee inquiry: The Legislative Process 

Call for Evidence 

The Constitution Committee is beginning a large-scale inquiry into the legislative process. 

This follows its major 2004 report on Parliament and the Legislative Process.1 The Committee 

is interested in how bills are prepared by Government and scrutinised in Parliament; 

whether and how outside organisations and the public are involved in the process; and how 

the legislative process is, or could be, affected by new technology and by the UK’s 

withdrawal from the EU. 

The inquiry will take place over the next year and will be broken down into four distinct 

parts, each addressing a stage or significant factor in the legislative process. These are:  

1. Preparing legislation for introduction in Parliament;  

2. The passage of legislation through Parliament;  

3. The delegation of powers; and,  

4. The period after Royal Assent.  

For each of these stages, the Committee will be looking at the issues and questions set out 

below. We will issue separate calls for evidence for each stage so as to enable those wishing 

to engage with the inquiry to do so in relation to each stage in turn, or only in relation to 

those stages about which they are best able to comment. Each call for evidence will address 

the same overarching issues in relation to the legislative process.  

Stage 1: Preparing legislation for introduction in Parliament 

We are now seeking evidence relating to the first stage of the legislative 

process: ‘Preparing legislation for introduction in Parliament’. This stage includes 

policy development and consultation, legislative drafting and pre-legislative scrutiny. At this 

stage, the Committee is focusing on primary, rather than delegated, legislation. 

The Committee would welcome written submissions on any aspect of this topic, and 

particularly on the issues and questions set out below. 

We welcome contributions from all interested individuals and organisations. For this stage 

of the inquiry, we are particularly interested in hearing from people and groups who have 

engaged with either Government consultations or parliamentary pre-legislative scrutiny 

investigations. 

Written evidence should be submitted online via the committee’s website, 

http://www.parliament.uk/legislative-process-written-submission-form. The 

deadline for submissions is Sunday 16 October 2016. 

  

                                                
1 Constitution Committee – Parliament and the Legislative Process: 

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200304/ldselect/ldconst/173/17302.htm  

Pack Page 37

Agenda Item 4.1

http://www.parliament.uk/legislative-process-written-submission-form
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200304/ldselect/ldconst/173/17302.htm


 

2 

 

Questions 

Creating good law 

The Office of the Parliamentary Counsel describe “good law” as “law that is: necessary; clear; 

coherent; effective; [and] accessible.”2  

1. How effective are current practices in Government and Parliament at delivering 

clear, coherent, effective and accessible draft legislation for introduction in 

Parliament? 

2. Are there mechanisms, processes and practices at this stage of the legislative process 

that hinder the development of ‘good law’? 

3. Are there improvements that could be made at this stage of the process that would 

result in law that is more easily understandable by users and the public? 

Brexit 

Following the UK’s withdrawal from the EU, Parliament will have to legislate across a range of areas 

previously legislated for at an EU level.  

4. What impact will the UK’s withdrawal from the EU have on the volume and type of 

legislation and how will that affect this stage of the legislative process?  
5. Will there be changes required to how the Government and Parliament deal with 

legislation following Brexit? 

Technology 

New technologies—and particularly developments in information technology—have changed the 

way that people access information and share their opinions, experiences and insights.  

6. How effectively do Parliament and the Government make use of technology at this 

stage of the legislative process? 

7. How could new or existing technologies be used to support the development and 

scrutiny of legislation? 

Public involvement and engagement 

Engagement with those affected by new legislation, or those with expertise that can assist the 

development and scrutiny of legislation, is an important factor in ensuring that legislation is effective 

in meeting its policy objectives. 

8. To what extent, and how effectively, are the public and stakeholders involved in this 

stage of the legislative process? 

9. What factors inhibit effective engagement? 

10. What mechanisms could be used to increase or improve engagement with the public 

and stakeholders? 

 

 

 

                                                
2 Cabinet Office: Guidance – Good Law: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/good-law 

Pack Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/good-law


 

3 

 

Information provision 

Informing the public, stakeholders and parliamentarians about potential legislation is an important 

part of effective law-making. 

11. How effectively is information about potential legislation disseminated at this stage in 

the process? 

12. How useful is the information that is disseminated and how could it be improved? 

Parliamentary involvement 

Parliament is central to the legislative process, but its involvement varies across the different stages 

of the legislative process. 

13. To what extent is Parliament, or are parliamentarians, involved in the development 

of legislation before it is introduced into Parliament?  

14. Is there scope for Parliament or parliamentarians to be more involved at this stage of 

the legislation process?  

  

Pack Page 39



 

4 

 

 

ANNEX: GUIDANCE FOR SUBMISSIONS 

 

Written evidence must be submitted online via the committee’s inquiry page 

http://www.parliament.uk/legislative-process-written-submission-form. Please do not submit 

PDFs (if you do not have access to Microsoft Word you may submit in another editable 

electronic form). If you cannot submit evidence online, please contact the committee staff.  

 

The deadline for written evidence is 5pm on Sunday 16 October. 

 

Concise submissions are preferred. A submission longer than six pages should include a 

one-page summary. Paragraphs should be numbered. Submissions should be dated, with a 

note of the author’s name, and of whether the author is making the submission on an 

individual or a corporate basis. All submissions submitted online will be acknowledged 

automatically. 

 
Personal contact details supplied to the committee will be removed from submissions 

before publication but will be retained by the committee staff for specific purposes relating 

to the committee’s work, such as seeking additional information. 

 

Submissions become the property of the committee which will decide whether to accept 

them as evidence. Evidence may be published by the committee at any stage. It will appear 

on the committee’s website and be deposited in the Parliamentary Archives. Once you have 

received acknowledgement that your submission has been accepted as evidence you may 

publicise or publish it yourself, but in doing so you must indicate that it was prepared for 

the committee. If you publish your evidence separately you should be aware that you will be 

legally responsible for its content. 

 

You should not comment on individual cases currently before a court of law, or matters in 

respect of which court proceedings are imminent. If you anticipate such issues arising, you 

should discuss with the clerk of the committee how this might affect your submission. 

 

Certain individuals and organisations may be invited to appear in person before the 

committee to give oral evidence. Oral evidence is usually given in public at Westminster and 

broadcast in audio and online. Persons invited to give oral evidence will be notified 

separately of the procedure to be followed and the topics likely to be discussed. 

 

Substantive communications to the committee about the inquiry should be addressed 

through the clerk or the chairman of the committee, whether or not they are intended to 

constitute formal evidence to the committee. 

 

This is a public call for evidence. Please bring it to the attention of other groups and 

individuals who may not have received a copy directly. 

 

You may follow the progress of the inquiry at http://www.parliament.uk/legislative-process-

inquiry. 
 

To contact the staff of the committee, please email constitution@parliament.uk. 

Pack Page 40

http://www.parliament.uk/legislative-process-written-submission-form
http://www.parliament.uk/legislative-process-inquiry
http://www.parliament.uk/legislative-process-inquiry
mailto:constitution@parliament.uk


Document is Restricted

Pack Page 41

Agenda Item 6By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 85

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2.1 SL(5)015 - The Government of Wales Act 1998 (Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016
	CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 2
	CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 3

	3.1 SL(5)014 - Charging Guidance to Ofwat (the economic regulator of the water sector)
	CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 5
	CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 6

	4.1 Call for evidence from the House of Lords Constitution Committee: The Legislative Process
	6 Wales Bill: Draft report
	CLA(5)-06-16 - Paper 9


